
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ORLANDO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v. Case No.  6:12-cr-63-Orl-31GJK

JONATHAN PAUL JIMENEZ

NOTICE OF MAXIMUM PENALTY, ELEMENTS OF OFFENSE,
PERSONALIZATION OF ELEMENTS AND FACTUAL BASIS

The Defendant, JONATHAN PAUL JIMENEZ, is charged with one count of

conspiracy to defraud the Government with respect to claims, in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 286, and one count of making a false statement to a federal agency, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2).  The following are the essential elements,

maximum penalties, and factual basis for this case:

I. Essential Elements

The essential elements of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 286, as charged in

Count One of the Indictment, are as follows:

First: two or more people in some way agreed to try to accomplish
a shared and unlawful plan;

Second: the Defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and
willfully joined in it; and

Third: the plan was to defraud the Government by obtaining the
payment or allowance of a claim based on a false or
fraudulent material fact.
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The essential elements of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2), as

charged in Count Two of the Indictment, are as follows:

First: the Defendant made the statement, as charged;

Second: the statement was false;

Third: the falsity concerned a material matter;

Fourth: the Defendant acted willfully, knowing that the statement
was false; and

Fifth: the false statement was made or used for a matter within the
jurisdiction of a department or agency of the United States
involving international terrorism.

II. Maximum Penalties

The maximum penalties for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 286, as charged in

Count One of the Indictment, are as follows:

-- Not more than 10 years imprisonment

-- Not more than 3 years supervised release

-- Not more than a $250,000 fine

-- $100 special assessment.

The maximum penalties for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2), as

charged in Count Two of the Indictment, are as follows:

-- Not more than 8 years imprisonment

-- Not more than 3 years supervised release

-- Not more than a $250,000 fine

-- $100 special assessment
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III. Factual Basis

The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) has been investigating a matter

involving international terrorism.  The following is an overview of the matter under

investigation:

a. MARCUS DWAYNE ROBERTSON and others are alleged to
be involved in the operation of a travel facilitation network
that sends individuals overseas to commit violent jihad.

b. In November 2010, JONATHAN PAUL JIMENEZ relocated
from New York to Central Florida where JIMENEZ began
training with ROBERTSON in the skills necessary to
participate in violent jihad overseas.  JIMENEZ’s training with
ROBERTSON included martial arts, firearm and knife
training, reading the Quran, and learning Arabic.  During
JIMENEZ’s training, ROBERTSON stressed that JIMENEZ
needed to focus on the religious aspects of his training, prior
to perfecting the skills needed to commit violent acts.

c. In late May and early June of 2011, JIMENEZ, with the
assistance of ROBERTSON and others, began making
preparations for his overseas travel.  ROBERTSON assisted
JIMENEZ in getting his photographs for his visa application
and his vaccinations.  On June 17, 2011, JIMENEZ departed
Central Florida and traveled to New York by airplane. 
JIMENEZ expected to get his visa and then travel overseas. 

In the course of the investigation, evidence was obtained by the FBI about

the nature of ROBERTSON’s training of JIMENEZ and the plan for JIMENEZ to

travel overseas to engage in violent jihad.  As part of the FBI investigation, a

confidential source (“CS”) engaged in consensually recorded conversations with

JIMENEZ and others.  In those conversations, JIMENEZ explained various 
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aspects of the training that he was receiving and his plan of traveling overseas to

engage in violent jihad.

JIMENEZ stated that his “goal” was to “study and one day fight” and to

“die on the battlefield:”

CS: What’s our dream?  What’s our goal?   Keeping it real,
what’s our goal?

JIMENEZ: Goal?  To study and one day fight, [Arabic], die on the
battlefield. 

JIMENEZ stated that he had been thinking about asking Allah to die as a

martyr or a shaheed [Arabic for “martyr”] in jihad:

JIMENEZ: You know, it’s deep that you’re telling me this.  You know,
I’ve been thinking about that lately, about asking Allah to die
as a martyr, man, as a shaheed in jihad.  You know?  Cause
they said what’s better than making hajj is the ones who fight
in the cause of Allah.  And you know what is so beautiful
about Allah? Even if you don’t get to do it, if your intentions
is to do it and Allah knows that you would’ve got on that
battlefield and did it, you get rewarded with that. 

CS: So, in your personal opinion, do you think you’re ready for
that?

JIMENEZ:  To be honest, no.

CS:  Are you getting ready for it?

JIMENEZ: I’m getting ready for it, but I’m not (UI).  I ain’t ready for it.

JIMENEZ stated that he did not just want to be in the battle, but that he

wanted to “die on the battlefield”:
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JIMENEZ: Nah, but that’s what it is.  You know?  You can make dua,
man, you know, that be of the people in the battle and die on
the battlefield.  I don’t just want to be in the battle, I want to
die on the battlefield, but I don’t mind going through a  few
battles.  [Laughing]. You know I don’t know when the Lord is
going to take my soul, but at least let me… they say when
you hit the dirt, not even when you fight, B’, when you hit the
dirt all of your sins are forgiven.  When your feet touch that
battle-grizzie sins are [Jimenez makes noise].

JIMENEZ stated that ROBERTSON had told him that he was going to

teach him how to shoot:

CS: I can’t go to the dojo in the mornings, but anything else you
guys do after that, I’ll probably be able to do after 4 or 5
o’clock.

JIMENEZ:  We’re going to go shooting guns.

CHS:  What?  He [Robertson] told you that he was going to take
you, or you assuming he told you that?

JIMENEZ:  No, (UI), he said it.  He [Robertson] said, ‘I’m gonna teach
you how to shoot.’ He said that’s how he learned in the
Marines.  You know, (UI) first.  He [Robertson] said I’m going
to learn how to shoot the BB gun, learn how to shoot the real
things.  It’s training.  When I get through, I’m be nasty, akh.

CS:  Well, after he [Robertson] showed you and you how to
shoot, are you guys going to go shoot them real things?

JIMENEZ:  Mm-hmm.

JIMENEZ stated that ROBERTSON told him that it was permissible or

obligatory to kill members of the Armed Forces, specifically generals:

JIMENEZ: “One of the things he [ROBERTSON] said, that it’s wajib
[Arabic for obligatory] to kill one of those generals.”
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JIMENEZ further explained:

JIMENEZ: So, he [ROBERTSON] says, he was looking, and I said, he
was looking at a skull and bones, and he said, that’s a
Marines sign, you know, ops.  And I seen this star on the
side, and I said, what is that?  I said, at first he seen that, he
was like, well, you know everybody gets that now these
days, you know?  I said, nah, there’s a star there, there’s a
red, white, with a red star in the middle.  So he
[ROBERTSON] says, that’s a general, and uh, he’s a
Marine.  You know?  So I was like, okay. So, I seen, and he
[ROBERTSON] says, those guys are permissible to kill
them.  He said, you can’t tell this to everybody.  You know
what I’m saying? 

JIMENEZ stated that he wanted to be martyred:

CS: Just don’t forget me when you touch that dirt.

JIMENEZ: No question, akh.  That’s how I want to go, shaykh.  Wallahi,
man, I want to go like that, akh.  I want to be, I want to be
martyred, man.  You know?  But not just to be martyred,
man, you know?  Maybe save some lives or through,
through my, through my, uh, my operation, man, you know? 
People can benefit after my death, not just, you know?  I
want to help somebody, man.  I want to do the same thing
that ya’ll did, that  Abu Taubah [a name used by
ROBERTSON], you, did for me one day, you know?  Bring a
brother overseas, man.

JIMENEZ stated that ROBERTSON had spoken with him about suicide

bombings and that they were permissible:

JIMENEZ: Then he [ROBERTSON] was talking about the suicide
bombings.  Yo, it’s permissible, akh, in a certain act of... 
This is between me and you.  You know he can’t tell these
other cats.
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On September 22, 2011, FBI agents located in Orange County, Florida

conducted a telephonic interview of JIMENEZ as part of its international terrorism

investigation. In that interview, JIMENEZ was asked about several of the

statements that he had made.  Rather than answer those questions truthfully,

JIMENEZ made the following false statements:

Questions JIMENEZ’s Answers

Have you ever told anyone that your
goal was to study and one day fight
and die on the battlefield?

No, sir.

And have you ever told anyone that
you had been thinking about asking
Allah to die as a martyr or a shaheed
in jihad?

Nah, nah, nah, nah, not no extreme
stuff like that.  Not at all, sir.  Not at
all.  Not at all.

Have you ever told anyone that you
did not want to just be in the battle,
but that you wanted to also die on the
battlefield?

I know, Jonathan.  This is...

I never, no.  You know, I never, I
wouldn’t even think like that.  You
know?  I’m an American citizen.  You
know?

But I never, uh, I never made a quote
like… you ready, baby?  Come on.
[To another person] 
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Have you ever told anyone that
Marcus Robertson or Abu Taubah told
you that he was going to teach you
how to shoot?

No, not at all, sir.  He never taught me
how to shoot and, uh, like I said, I
wasn’t, you know, he had me there for
strictly, you know,  studying, and
that’s mostly what I was going around,
you know, so…

Have you ever told, have you ever
told anyone that Marcus Robertson or
Abu Taubah told you that you were
going to go shoot guns?

Okay.

Hell, nah.

He never brought me around that
stuff.  You know what I’m saying?

Have you ever told anyone that
Marcus Robertson or Abu Taubah told
you that it was permissible or
obligatory to kill members of the
Armed Forces, specifically generals? 

[Arabic], nah, nah, nah, nah.  Not at
all, sir.  Not at all. 

Have you ever told anyone that you
want to be martyred?

No, no.

Have you ever told anyone that
Marcus Robertson or Abu Taubah
spoke with you about suicide
bombings and that they were
permissible?

Okay.

No, not at all, sir.

Not at all.
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As JIMENEZ knew when he made those statements on September 22,

2011, those statements were false, and they contradicted the statements that

JIMENEZ had made to the CS.  JIMENEZ had been previously advised that it

was a crime to lie to the FBI.  At the end of the September 22, 2011 interview,

the FBI advised JIMENEZ again that it was a crime to lie to the FBI and was

asked whether he wanted to change, modify, or expand upon any of his answers. 

JIMENEZ stated, “No, not at all, sir.”

To have funds available for him when he was overseas, JIMENEZ and

others engaged in a conspiracy to submit a false claim to the Internal Revenue

Service, which is an agency of the United States.  On February 14, 2011, a 2010

United States individual income tax return was electronically submitted for

JIMENEZ from one of  ROBERTSON’s residences located in Orange County,

Florida.  In JIMENEZ’s return, JIMENEZ falsely claimed three of ROBERTSON’‘s

children as his dependents.  In addition, JIMENEZ falsely represented that he

lived with each of the three children for all of 2010.  As JIMENEZ knew when

those representations were made, those representations were false.  JIMENEZ

only arrived in arrived in Central Florida in November 2010 and, as a result, he

could not have lived with the three children claimed on his return for all of 2010. 

The mother of the children claimed as dependents on JIMENEZ’s tax return has

confirmed that the children are ROBERTSON’s children. 
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As a result of those false representations, JIMENEZ obtained a refund

from the IRS in the amount of $5,587.  Because of the amount of wages that he

falsely claimed ($15,500 as a “jobber”), JIMENEZ qualified for an Earned Income

Credit in the amount of $5,666 (which was the maximum amount available) and

an additional child tax credit in the amount of $1,711.  When the amount of tax

allegedly due by JIMENEZ was offset by his fraudulent credits, JIMENEZ’s total

refund was $5,587.

The refund check was sent by United States Mail to JIMENEZ at the

address indicated on his tax return, which was one of the residences of

ROBERTSON located in Orange County, Florida.  On April 27, 2011, JIMENEZ

opened an account at Wachovia Bank in the Middle District of Florida.  JIMENEZ

provided his address as being one of ROBERTSON’s residences.  On that same

date, JIMENEZ deposited his IRS refund check into his account.  Over the next

couple of weeks, JIMENEZ used his debit card to use funds that he had

fraudulently obtained from submission of the tax return that he knew was false.

On June 8, 2011, one of ROBERTSON’s girlfriends became a signatory

on the account along with JIMENEZ.  On that same date, JIMENEZ made a

$2,000 cash withdrawal from the account.
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Date: August 27, 2012

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT E. O'NEILL
United States Attorney

By: s/ Roger B. Handberg          
Roger B. Handberg
Assistant United States Attorney
Florida Bar No. 0241570
501 West Church Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32805
Telephone: (407) 648-7500
Facsimile: (407) 648-7643
E-mail:  Roger.Handberg@usdoj.gov
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U.S. v. JONATHAN PAUL JIMENEZ Case No. 6:12-cr-63-Orl-31GJK

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on August 27, 2012, I electronically filed the foregoing

with the Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice

of electronic filing to the following:

Drew Sorrell

I hereby certify that on August 27, 2012, a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing was sent by United States

Mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant(s):

s/ Roger B. Handberg
Roger B. Handberg
Assistant United States Attorney
Florida Bar No. 0241570
501 West Church Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32805
Telephone: (407) 648-7500
Facsimile: (407) 648-7643
E-mail:  Roger.Handberg@usdoj.gov

12

Case 6:12-cr-00063-GAP-GJK   Document 54    Filed 08/27/12   Page 12 of 12 PageID 98


